

EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held at 1:00pm on Wednesday 1<sup>st</sup> December 2021 in the Council Chamber at The Grange, Nutholt Lane, Ely, CB7 4EE.

#### **PRESENT**

Cllr Christine Ambrose Smith

Cllr David Ambrose Smith (Substitute for Cllr Lavinia Edwards)

Cllr Sue Austen

**Cllr David Brown** 

**Cllr Matthew Downey** 

Cllr Bill Hunt (Chairman)

Cllr Julia Huffer (Substitute for Cllr Lis Every)

Cllr Alec Jones

Cllr Lisa Stubbs (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr John Trapp

Cllr Gareth Wilson

## **OFFICERS**

Rebecca Saunt - Planning Manager

Maggie Camp - Legal Services Manager

Angela Briggs – Planning Team Leader

Holly Chapman - Planning Officer

Tracy Couper – Democratic Services Manager

Caroline Evans – Democratic Services Officer

Rachael Forbes – Planning Officer

Barbara Greengrass – Planning Team Leader

Molly Hood - Planning Officer

Toni Hylton – Senior Planning Officer

Jade Ling – Communications Officer

Annalise Lister – Communications Manager

Sarah Parisi – Senior Support Officer

Christopher Partrick – Conservation Officer

Andrew Phillips - Planning Team Leader

Juleen Roman – Planning Enforcement Team Leader

Angela Tyrrell – Senior Legal Assistant

Russell Wignall – Legal Assistant

## **IN ATTENDANCE**

Astra Carter-Marsh (Objector, Agenda Item 5 / Minute 55)

Neil Cutforth (Agent, Agenda Item 6 / Minute 56)

Amy Ellis (Applicant, Agenda Item 11 / Minute 60)

Helen Marriott (Objector, Agenda Item 5 / Minute 55)

Kier Petherick (Applicant, Agenda Item 7 / Minute 57)

Parish Cllr Chris Ray (Applicant, Agenda Item 5 / Minute 55)

Phil Roden (Agent, Agenda Item 7 / Minute 57)

Jeremy Vincent (Objector, Agenda Item 8 / Minute 58)

Kevin Watts (Agent, Agenda Item 9 / Minute 59)

6 Members of the public.

## 51. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Edwards and Every.

Cllrs D Ambrose Smith and Huffer were attending as substitutes.

## 52. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr Brown declared that he had called-in Agenda Item 9 (21/01146/FUL, 29 Isaacson Road, Burwell, CB25 0AF), however, he had an open mind and would therefore participate in the debate and vote on the item.

Cllr Huffer declared herself to be predetermined on Agenda Item 8 (21/01142/FUL, 55 Carter Street, Fordham, CB7 5NG), she would therefore speak and then leave the meeting before the debate and vote on the item.

Cllr Wilson declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda Item 5 (20/00880/OUM, OS Land Parcel 7216, Bury Lane, Haddenham) as a member of the Parish Council, which was the applicant, he would therefore speak and then leave the meeting before the debate and vote on the item.

Cllr Ambrose Smith declared that she had called-in Agenda Item 6 (21/00410/FUL, 2 Hale Fen, Littleport) and would speak on the item before leaving the meeting for the debate and vote.

#### 53. MINUTES

The Committee received the Minutes of the meeting held on 3<sup>rd</sup> November 2021.

Cllr Downey read aloud an objector's comment from the meeting, questioning why it would not be appropriate to protect residential amenity when it had been appropriate in 2012, 2013, 2015 and 2019, and asked that it be included in the Minutes of the meeting. He could not specify the Agenda Item or Minute reference, but the Democratic Services Manager suggested that he might be referring to page 16 of the Minutes. The Chairman reminded Members that the Minutes of a meeting were intended to provide a summary rather than a verbatim record of proceedings, and could not include all comments made. When invited by the Chairman to formally propose an amendment to the Minutes, if he did not believe them to be a fair summary, Cllr Downey declined.

It was resolved:

That the Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 3<sup>rd</sup> November 2021 be confirmed as a correct record and be signed by the Chairman.

#### 54. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chairman informed the Committee that Emma Barral, Planning Officer had left the Council since the last meeting. He thanked her for her excellent service and wished her well. He requested that Officers ensure Members be referenced by name in their reports, rather than "Ward Member" or similar, and asked all Members to remain at the end of the meeting in order to discuss plans for future site visits.

## 55. 20/00880/OUM – OS LAND PARCEL 7216, BURY LANE, HADDENHAM

Toni Hylton, Senior Planning Officer, presented a report (W119, previously circulated) on behalf of Case Officer Emma Barral. The report recommended approval of an application seeking outline consent (with all matters reserved) for the change of use of agricultural land to recreational land to create a new recreational ground for the Haddenham Parish Council (applicant) to include football pitches, parking, changing rooms, access and associated works.

The Senior Planning Officer emphasised that the application was for outline permission only and that all matters were reserved. She drew Members' attention to the update sheet that had been circulated on 29<sup>th</sup> November and referenced a detailed objection from CPRE (circulated in full the previous week), a standard condition<sup>1</sup> that had erroneously been omitted from the recommended conditions in the report, and 4 additional neighbours' comments.

Members were shown a block plan and aerial photograph to demonstrate the site's location to the west of Haddenham, adjacent to the village's development envelope, west of the village's conservation area and south of New Town Road. An indicative proposed site plan was shown to illustrate where the pitches, car parking, and changing facilities could be located, although the actual layout would form part of a subsequent reserved matters application if outline permission was granted. Site photos showed New Town Road (the proposed access road) and Pocket Park as well as Bury Lane (proposed pedestrian and cycle access).

An earlier version of the application had been considered by the Committee in December 2020 and Members had voted to defer the application in order that the applicants could complete an ecology survey and carry out further investigations in relation to the site access for vehicular and pedestrian traffic. Visual and residential amenity, flood risk and drainage had all been dealt with in the presentation in December 2020. Visual amenity could not be determined without full details and therefore it would need to be considered as part of a reserved matters application. In terms of residential amenity, Members would need to consider the impact of vehicular movements but the recreation ground itself was unlikely to cause harm. Regarding flood risk, the site was located in Flood Zone 1 and adequate surface and foul water drainage could be secured by condition.

Notwithstanding the above, the main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

• **Principle of development** – no other suitable or available sites had been found within the development envelope of Haddenham. The proposed site was well located in relation to its catchment population due to its position

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Condition 13: Prior to any work commencing on the site a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority regarding mitigation measures for noise, dust and lighting during the construction phase. These shall include, but not be limited to, other aspects such as access points for deliveries and site vehicles, and proposed phasing/timescales of development etc. The CEMP shall be adhered to at all times during all phases.

directly south of Pocket Park and with existing pedestrian access in the south east corner from Bury Lane. The impact upon the character and appearance of the locality and neighbour amenity would depend on the extent of the development. Given the distances retained, the proposed pitches were not considered to result in significant harm to visual or residential amenity. In terms of traffic generation, the applicant had stated that the football pitches would be used on Saturdays and Sundays during the football season, as well as for evening training sessions when daylight permitted, as well as occasional other weekday sporting activities. The principle of the development would only be considered to be acceptable if all aspects of policy COM4 were satisfied, including that the scheme must not have a significant adverse impact (itself or cumulatively) in terms of scale or nature of traffic generated.

- Highway safety and car parking the proposed means of access was reserved for future consideration, although in December 2020 the applicant had been asked to provide further details regarding vehicular and pedestrian access. The applicant had subsequently submitted an amended plan demonstrating an indicative layout, and a Highway Technical Review, in June 2021. The vehicular access would be from New Town Road, with additional pedestrian access from Bury Lane. The Review concluded that the proposal would not overburden New Town Road, double yellow lines should be added at the junction of New Town Road with the A1123, 70 car parking spaces would be needed, and no coach access would be required. Upon considering the Review, the Local Highway Authority (LHA) accepted that the capacity of New Town Road would not be overburdened and that sufficient parking for vehicles and cycles could be provided, but questioned whether the increase in traffic would have an adverse impact on the amenity of the road's residents. The LHA requested that a construction traffic management plan condition be applied should the application be approved.
- Biodiversity the site was high in ecological potential and the possible presence of protected species had been reported by third party consultees.
   A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report had been submitted and concluded that although there would be a loss of ecological value, mitigation could be put in place.
- Other matters due to its location within Flood Zone 1, the principle of development was considered acceptable in terms of flood risk. The Tree Officers had advised that access from New Town Road should use as much of the existing track as possible in order to minimise tree loss. It would be advantageous to condition a soft landscaping scheme including suitable mitigation planting and screening.

In summary, the principle of the application was considered to be acceptable and there was a clearly demonstrated need for the facility in the locality. The Local Highway Authority had raised no objection, subject to conditions as detailed in the report and the update sheet. On balance, the traffic increase on New Town Road was not considered to cause demonstrable harm to the residents. The application was therefore recommended for approval.

The Chairman thanked the Officer and stated that he would be extending the permitted speaking time for all public speaking categories from 5min to 8min, following a request from the Chairman of the Parish Council who wished to ensure

that those speaking against the application had sufficient opportunity to explain their views.

Astra Carter-Marsh then addressed the Committee as an objector to the proposal. She explained that New Town Road was a cul de sac with much on-street parking during the evenings and weekends. Double yellow lines at the junction with the A1123 would be unsafe and since they would not be policed they would be ineffective. Street play was recognised to be beneficial for exercise, creative play, friendships and community cohesion; this was possible in a cul de sac but independent street play would no longer be available if New Town Road became a through road. She was pleased to see that the Local Highway Authority shared the residents' concerns about their amenity. In addition, she was concerned about the proposed new facility attracting antisocial behaviour and she felt strongly that the Parish Council had not consulted the public in the way that they should have done for a proposal involving a community facility such as Pocket Park. Pocket Park had been made by the community and was the only such facility in that part of the village. There was an abundance of nature on the site and it was popular for dog walking and children playing, as well as various community groups using it for meet ups over the past year. It would be cut in two by the new access road and community-planted trees would be removed during the construction. Both the ECDC Local Plan and the NPPF stated that it was not acceptable to lose open spaces in order to develop community facilities, and therefore the proposal was unacceptable.

Helen Marriott then presented her objections to the proposal from the perspective of the Sustainable Haddenham group who had considered the wider environmental impact. There was no opposition to the principle of additional football pitches, however the proposed location was not suitable. The Haddenham Bowl was a significant site in terms of ecology and it was very tranguil. Development at that location had been strongly resisted by the Parish Council in order to avoid setting a precedent, and this was reinforced in the draft Haddenham Neighbourhood Plan. This application therefore contradicted the Parish Council's own policy. proposal was not simply for playing fields, it also included access, parking and changing facilities, and it was not fit for purpose. The site was known to be waterlogged and the need for a ground survey had not been addressed. There had been no adequate demonstration that there were no other suitable locations for the proposed pitches. It had been stated that it was not acceptable for teams to have to travel to other villages, however, some teams included residents from those villages and people tended to drive regardless of the location. There appeared to have been no consideration given to extending the days and hours of use of the existing facilities as a way to overcome the pitch shortage, and she believed that to be due to the FA only providing funding for new facilities rather than improvements to existing facilities. Pocket Park and the Haddenham Bowl should be protected; the proposed site was not appropriate for the new facilities.

In response to questions from Cllr Trapp, Ms Carter-Marsh indicated the location of Pocket Park on a map from the Officer's presentation and explained that the track marked from New Town Road to the pump house was in fact a barely-visible grass-covered track. She also confirmed that children played both in Pocket Park and in New Town Road.

Cllr Jones questioned where the evidence came from regarding FA restrictions. Ms Marriott explained that, early in the development process, she had spoken to a leading figure within Haddenham Colts and he had stated that FA rules only permitted matches to be played on Saturday mornings and she understood it therefore appeared easier to build a new pitch. In response to Cllr Downey, she stated that she had no numbers regarding the likelihood, or otherwise, of long-term demand for additional pitches.

Cllr Huffer asked for more information about the access from Bury Lane. Ms Carter-Marsh explained that, although it was suitable for pedestrians, the surface was rutted and uneven. Ms Marriott added that she understood Bury Lane to have been discounted as the main access point on environmental grounds; it was even more precious than the Haddenham Bowl in that context.

The Chairman then invited the applicant to address the Committee. Parish Cllr Chris Ray, Chairman of Haddenham Parish Council, thanked the Officer for her comprehensive and balanced report regarding the application. He explained that recreation grounds were integral to parish life and were taken seriously by the Parish Council and reviewed regularly. Healthy exercise was important for young people and the village had recently benefitted from a new skate park, a MUGA, cricket nets and artificial surface, and a renovated pavilion. There was also an intention to renew playground equipment. The need for additional football pitches had been identified four years previously and there were now >200 children playing football in 13 teams. When the need was identified, seven teams were playing elsewhere due to pitch availability and consequently a search had been undertaken to identify a suitable new location. The Parish Council had been offered the application site and had chosen to apply for outline planning permission prior to securing the option to purchase the site. He noted the objections and commented that the concerns regarding traffic were understandable. Regarding the environmental concerns, he felt that, although it would no longer be a farmer's field, it would still be a green space. He hoped that the contents of the Officer's report had allayed the objectors' concerns. The proposal was for a recreation ground where the Haddenham Colts would mark out pitches according to need, the goalposts would be removed after each session and therefore there would be little affect on the landscape when matches or training were not taking place. The expectation was that the pitches would be in use on Saturday mornings, possibly on Sunday mornings, and occasionally during weekday evenings in daylight hours. There would be no coaches accessing the site. Although changing facilities were a requirement of the FA, they were not expected to be widely used. If the outline application was approved, then the Parish Council would further develop the proposal in full consultation with residents and would subsequently submit a reserved matters application only if they were convinced that the majority of the community was in favour.

Cllr Huffer asked whether residents would continue to have the access that they currently enjoyed, including for dog-walking. Parish Cllr Ray confirmed that pedestrian access would remain and would in fact open up a circular walking route by connecting New Town Road with Bury Lane. He also explained that dogs were allowed on the recreation ground, subject to them being on leads during football matches and training sessions, and he would anticipate the same at the new facility. The Bowl area was important and the Parish Council would not wish to spoil it. Cllr Downey questioned whether community groups would still be able to

host events as mentioned by the objectors. Parish Cllr Ray confirmed that the Parish Council wanted to keep the existing track to the pump house in order to minimise the impact on Pocket Park and would intend to provide an environmentally-friendly access through to the recreation area. Overall the facilities available to the community would be increased.

In response to questions from Cllr Trapp, Parish Cllr Ray explained that the application site was currently a hay meadow and the track shown on the site map running north from the north eastern corner of the site ended on private land.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith queried the amount of time that the land would be used since, in his experience, the football season extended into the summer months and training sessions took up at least as much time as matches so he imagined that the new facility would attract a greater amount of use than was currently envisaged. Parish Cllr Ray explained that, once complete, the village would have two facilities each enabling a full programme of three concurrent matches. The existing training facilities on the recreation ground included some floodlighting and the overall intention was to provide >200 children with the facility to play football whilst minimising the inconvenience to all residents.

Cllr Austen stated that she had received ten phone calls from concerned Haddenham residents who had not been aware of any consultation on the proposal. Parish Cllr Ray explained that consultation sessions had been publicised although he conceded that they had not contacted every house in the village. A further consultation would be undertaken if the application was approved, and prior to scheme design in consultation with residents. He suggested that the results from their survey had indicated that approximately 5% of the village were opposed to the proposal, with 5-10% (most of whom were connected to the football club) in favour, and the rest of the village held no strong opinion.

In response to questions from Cllr Hunt, Parish Cllr Ray explained that teams currently played in a variety of locations including Wilburton and Mepal as well as looking further afield to Earith and Bluntisham. The need for additional pitches in Haddenham had been clearly demonstrated but a level site had proved hard to find within the village. The proposed site would be locked for vehicular access when matches or training were not taking place, but would be open to pedestrians at all times and the whole area would be accessible for play. A landscaping plan would be needed for the green space, which could include the provision of new trees if considered appropriate.

On the invitation of the Chairman, the Democratic Services Officer read aloud the following statement supplied by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough branch of the Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE).

"Thank you for the opportunity to address the Committee in this way. Due to a combination of business commitments and illness we are unable to attend in person.

CPRE Cambridgeshire and Peterborough has strong objections to this proposal. We have detailed these in our letters of 28 October 2020 and 23 November 2021.

CPRE is a strong supporter of all kinds of sporting activity within local communities but these must be set against the effects these activities will have on neighbours and, in this case, upon the singularly important landscape known as the Haddenham 'bowl'.

On several previous occasions, CPRE has worked with local communities, this council and members of this committee to protect the landscape around the Haddenham area and the 'bowl', and we continue to do so. This has included developments on Bury Lane, a wind farm on Berry Fen, development along Wilburton Road and, slightly further afield, the Mereham development between Wilburton and Stretham where the evidence of the late Miss Shirley Fieldhouse was quoted in the Inspector's recommendation to refuse.

We are very concerned that this development will make it much more difficult to defend future applications or re-applications to develop along Bury Lane.

The Haddenham 'bowl' is an exceptional landscape containing clear and visible evidence of the development of the settlement of Haddenham prior to the fen drainage, and since. This historical significance is set out most clearly in the report by local historian and former chair of the Institute of Field Archaeologists, Jez Reeve, who stated in the report included with our letter:

"The views from the ridge are not just aesthetic but practical, giving landowners the opportunity to keep an eye on their property. From the fen ground the high ground is the view of home and society. One does not exist without the other. Were farmers from the past to revisit the parish they would instantly relive these relationships because they have not changed."

and, quoting from Gillespies' report also included with our letter:

"The ridge, rising out of the flat fen landscape, has been a signifier of settlement, safety and the route to Ely for hundreds of years."

The site is outside of the Local Plan development envelope and immediately adjacent to the Haddenham Conservation area. Bury Lane is a rare example of an "access drove". That is to say a wide public roadway or drove which provided access from the village to the 'highland' fields between the village and the fen, and still does. The field to the north at the top of Bury Lane is within the Conservation Area because it is a "ridge and furrow" field and the pattern of Middle Age agriculture remains clearly visible, as does the settlement pattern bordering it.

The ancient landscape pattern which includes the proposed development is clearly visible around the 'bowl' from the western end of the Haddenham Conservation Area, such as Feasts Green and Aldreth Road, from the Hillrow Conservation Area and from Long Drove and the Willingham to Earith road.

The local hedgerows are ancient and a recent species count along Bury Lane found 10 species of hedgerow shrub. Eight species of bird listed in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan, plus the now rare turtle dove, are known to visit the area. Thirteen species are resident. Five species of raptor and owl nest nearby. Three species of bat, including the very rare Nathusius pipistrelle, are known to roost in the 'bowl'.

This is an unspoilt, wildlife rich space, well used by birds, mammals and reptiles. This is likely due to the almost complete lack of disturbance apart from the occasional walker and farm traffic. How can the noise and disturbance of several football pitches and up to seventy parked cars on a large area of tarmac be consistent with conserving this level of nature, let alone achieving Natural Cambridgeshire's ambition of "doubling nature"?

We are concerned at the loss of best and most versatile land especially in a location where much of the surrounding farmland, the Fens, is likely to be lost to sea level rise over the next thirty to fifty years.

CPRE believe that this proposal will create frequent and prolonged noise disturbance to local residents, especially those living at Newtown Road and the top of Bury Lane. We are concerned that the narrow access along Newtown Road will cause damage to residents' vehicles and the opportunity for argument and dispute.

There is a risk that if the current application is allowed, pressure for floodlighting will follow, leading to unsightly structures in the landscape and significant light pollution.

Having talked to residents of Haddenham, CPRE believes there may well be alternatives to this site which appear not to have been explored. For example, the facilities used by the Boxing Club and those belonging to the charity which hosts youth camps at Third Bridge.

The Haddenham 'bowl' and the area surrounding Haddenham and Aldreth currently feature in CPRE's nationwide tranquillity maps as being in the most tranquil category. This peaceful environment should be preserved and not endangered."

The Ward Member for Haddenham, Cllr Wilson, who was also a member of the Parish Council, then addressed the Committee and stated that he believed many of the objections to be concerned with the initial application in which there had been significant car parking on the public park, whereas in the current application all parking would be on the new field. Pocket Park would remain "as is" with the exception of cars passing through it along the same route that was currently used to access the pump house. He also believed that many users would travel by foot or bicycle. There was no reason to think that there would be any floodlighting on the new site, and the floodlights on the existing recreation ground were in fact for the MUGA rather than the football pitches. Any special matches or events would be hosted at the existing ground. The purpose of the application was to provide facilities needed by the young people of the village without the requirement for a The club was thriving, including several girls' teams, and should be encouraged. He echoed the applicant's comments that a suitable flat location had been hard to find, and commented that £31k had been required in order to level the existing recreation ground. No green facilities would be lost in the creation of the new facility and the Parish Council would ensure that all environmental aspects were correctly addressed. He urged the Committee not to refuse the application on the grounds that some people opposed the idea of additional traffic in New Town Road; he considered this to be unfair to the >200 children who would benefit from the scheme. Without the outline permission the Parish Council could not commit

the resources required to obtain the necessary grants to purchase the land. Once in place, the Parish Council would consult with nearby residents regarding the facilities, the building, and additional trees but no progress would be possible until outline permission had been granted.

Cllr Huffer questioned the assertion that Pocket Park would remain unaltered since vehicles would need to cross it and plumbing would be required for the changing facilities. Parish Cllr Ray interjected to explain that sewerage was already in place *via* the pump house. Ms Marriott also interjected to state that she considered Cllr Wilson's first statement to have been insulting to both objectors present at the meeting, and others who had submitted valid concerns. The Chairman reminded all attendees that speaking was on the invitation of the Chairman and was restricted to the appropriate slot only.

Cllr Downey asked about the boxing club that had been mentioned in the statement supplied by the CPRE. Cllr Wilson stated that it was a successful club that used the pavilion on the recreation ground and had no plans to move. The recreation ground had many good facilities, but not enough football pitches.

In response to several questions from Cllr Trapp, Cllr Wilson confirmed that the land to the west of the site was similar and therefore although there would be loss of habitat it would not be eradicated, the goalposts would be taken down when not in use and dog walking would simply require leads as were currently required on the recreation ground. Finally, with regard to the track and parking, the application was purely indicative and the Parish Council would consult the community, but his personal opinion was that matting and grass would be best.

#### Cllr Wilson left the Chamber.

On the invitation of the Chairman, and in response to a concern raised by Ms Marriott, the Senior Planning Officer drew Members' attention to proposed condition 10 regarding site surveys and ground conditions. In response to questions from Cllr Trapp regarding the parking provision along New Town Road and the need for 70 parking spaces at the new recreation ground, the Officer started that the number of spaces in the car park would be in accordance with policy COM8, and the Chairman reminded Members of the importance of visiting each site themselves in order to picture the locations.

The Chairman then opened the debate and emphasised that the application was for outline planning permission with all matters reserved.

Cllr C Ambrose Smith expressed her support for the application based on the importance of encouraging all young people to exercise. Cllr Trapp agreed, and added that it would increase the amenities of Pocket Park by providing access to a larger field and the possibility of a circular village walk through the field. He was conscious of the impact on New Town Road but that would only be on certain days. Cllr Stubbs expressed sympathy for the New Town Road residents and understood that they would not wish the nature of their cul de sac to change, however, she considered that the Parish Council had worked hard to address the additional information that was requested when the application was previously deferred and she proposed that the Officer's recommendation for approval be accepted. Pocket Park would be retained and dog walking would still be allowed. The Parish Council

had endeavoured to please everyone. Cllr Hunt seconded the motion and added that it had been made clear that there would be no floodlights and that the new development would be an "annexe" to the main facility on the existing recreation ground, with any competitions being hosted at the main facility. He recognised the concerns of the New Town Road residents but considered that a larger and safer play area would become available to them with this development.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith commented that, having driven to the site to view it, he was concerned that its location was such that the majority of users would drive to it and he did not consider that New Town Road could accommodate the resulting volume of traffic. Cllr Huffer expressed her support for encouraging exercise, but agreed with Cllr D Ambrose Smith that children's exercise should not come at the expense of residents who she believed would suffer year-round disruption, particularly at weekends, along a narrow road with difficult parking. She agreed with the comment in the CPRE's statement regarding the potential for disputes and had found the statement very enlightening with regard to the potential cost to wildlife. Given the size of Haddenham, she did not believe that this could be the only suitable location for the proposal and whilst she understood the need for the facility she did not consider this site to be appropriate.

Cllr Downey considered the proposal to be good and had been convinced by the presentations that green space would not be lost to the village so overall there would be a net gain. Parking was an issue throughout the District and he reminded Members that the Council had proposals regarding dealing with "hotspots" of parking issues so, if necessary that could be applied to this location. Cllr Jones also expressed broad support whilst understanding the concerns of the residents and expressing cynicism as to whether the Parish Council would stop the development if support was not widespread.

The Planning Manager reminded Members that the Officer recommendation now included an additional condition, as detailed in the update sheet and highlighted in the Senior Planning Officer's presentation.

It was resolved with 7 votes in favour, 3 votes against, and 0 abstentions:

That planning application ref 20/00880/OUM be APPROVED subject to the recommended conditions detailed in Appendix 1 of the Officer's report and the additional condition detailed in the update sheet.

2:28 – 2:33pm meeting adjourned for a comfort break. Cllr Wilson returned to the Chamber.

## 56. <u>21/00410/FUL – 2 HALE FEN, LITTLEPORT, CB6 1EN</u>

Holly Chapman, Planning Officer, presented a report (W120, previously circulated) on behalf of Case Officer Emma Barral. The report recommended refusal of an application seeking planning permission for the replacement of an existing dwellinghouse with a new dwellinghouse and ancillary annexe with a garage.

Members were shown a block plan, aerial photographs, and photographs from two public highways demonstrating the site's fairly isolated location outside the development envelope of Littleport, within flood zone 3, and visible from the A10

and Hale Fen Road. Photographs were also provided of the existing dwellinghouse which the Officer reported to be of good architectural design and having a footprint of 140sqm and floorspace of 224sqm. A site plan illustrated the proposed location of the new dwellinghouse, further from the site boundary than the existing property, and the relative sizes of the existing and proposed buildings. Elevations, dimensions and floorplans were provided for the proposed development. When compared with the existing dwelling, the proposed dwelling would have a ridge height greater by 1.4m, a 10.1m greater depth, a 20m greater width, and a 228sqm increase in footprint.

The main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

- Principle of development the annexe was considered to have 130sqm of floorspace comprising a hallway, coat room, wet room, sitting room with kitchenette, and a games room and utility room linked to the ground floor of the main house, together with a bedroom and bathroom on the first floor. When considering the National Technical Space Standards, a property with 130sqm of floorspace could be a 6-bedroom 8-person dwelling. The minimum size for a single-storey 1-bedroom 2-person dwelling would be 37sqm. Consequently, the proposed annexe was considered to be excessive in scale and footprint and was capable of being used a separate residential dwelling, therefore it was contrary to policy GROWTH2 that restricted the creation of new dwellings in the open countryside.
  - Replacement dwellings were required by policy HOU8 to be of a similar height to the original and be of a scale and design sensitive to the countryside setting. Exceptions could be made for exceptionally high-quality design. The proposed design was considered to have limited architectural details and not of exceptional quality: the dormers were mismatched and the bay window out of keeping, the roof forms and fenestration were not in keeping, the garage was sizeable and disproportionate. Amendments to the design had been sought and made but had not reached the point of suitability for approval. It had not been proposed as a rural workers dwelling and therefore policy HOU5 was not relevant.
- Visual amenity the existing dwelling was modest in size and the proposed new footprint would be 2.6x the original and sizeable in terms of site coverage. By virtue of its excessive height, width and scale the proposal did not comply with elements of policy HOU8 requiring a level of cohesion with the original dwelling (in this case a traditional rural cottage) and a scale and design sensitive to its countryside setting. The proposed development would be a clearly visible and prominent addition to the local rural landscape and would be contrary to policies ENV2 and HOU8 in respect of replacement dwellings in the countryside.
- **Residential amenity** due to the significant distance between the replacement dwellinghouse and other nearby dwellings or businesses it was not considered that it would result in any detriment in terms of residential amenity.
- Highways/parking provision the site would use an existing access and the Local Highways Authority had no objection to the proposal.
- Trees and biodiversity the proposal included new tree planting, new native species hedge planting and the addition of bird boxes. It was considered to satisfy the net biodiversity gain and ecology requirements.
- Flood risk and drainage the site was located in flood zone 3 but as a proposal for a replacement dwelling the principle was not unacceptable. A

Flood Risk Assessment had been submitted and a condition could be applied to ensure that no significant flood risk impacts would be created. The design included the elevation of floor levels above those of the existing dwelling, and draining the site using soakaways.

In summary, the proposed dwelling did not comply with policies ENV2 or HOU8 due to its scale, height and design and the consequential impact on the visual amenity of the streetscene and the character of the wider area. The excessive scale and footprint of the proposed annexe was inconsistent with proposals for genuine ancillary accommodation and it was therefore considered to form a separate new dwelling which would be contrary to policies ENV2 and GROWTH2 of the Local Plan 2015. The application was therefore recommended for refusal.

The Chairman invited the agent, Neil Cutforth, to address the Committee. He stated that the applicant's family had run the farm for over 90 years and the existing building was suffering from subsidence and had been condemned. They wanted to replace it with a traditional style of building, upgraded to be suitable for a young family and the applicant's parents. The main dwelling would be a three-bedroom home with potential to extend into the roof at a later date. The utility and games room were part of the main house rather than the annexe and the functionality would be shared by all three generations. The building would be built in a traditional style and oak would be used for the porch and car lodge. A two-car garage was not excessive and, when compared with the existing house, the building would maximise sustainable design in accordance with ENV4 and the Climate Change SPD. The Officer had required an "innovative" design but that was not specified in policies. The applicant believed the design to meet the requirements of policy ENV2 in the context of the locality and it would enhance and preserve the setting. Policy HOU8 required the scale to be sensitive to the setting, in that context the Case Officer had requested the ridge height be reduced to a 1.2m increase when compared to the original dwelling. The applicant's final design was a little over 1.3m higher and the Case Officer had agreed that, although generous, the height would be satisfactory. The Planning Team Leader had requested that the garage be repositioned and the applicants had assumed that the request would not have been made if the size of the garage was itself a problem. The annexe met the criteria detailed in paragraph 2.3 of the report and provided 60sqm of floorspace for the applicant's parents in the form of a bedroom, a bathroom, and living space. There was no intention to allow anyone else to live in the annexe or to separate it from the main dwelling, and the applicants would be happy with a condition to that effect. Members had been provided with photographs demonstrating the minimal impact of the proposed design on the landscape. The design was sympathetic to tradition and met the requirements of policies ENV2 and HOU8, Members were asked to approve it.

Cllr Downey asked the agent to clarify the discrepancy between the Officers' view and the applicant's view regarding the floorspace of the annexe. Mr Cutforth explained that their opinion was that the annexe comprised a bedroom, a bathroom and a living area with a total area of 60sqm. The Officers had included the games room, utility and wet room in the footprint of the annexe – which had been designed to be shared with the main house – thereby giving an annexe area of 130sqm. He explained to Cllr Jones that he considered "innovative" style to mean a more modern way of doing something, and the report had inferred that high quality of design was essential, but "innovative" was not included in policy HOU8. In

response to questions from Cllr Trapp, the agent stated that the original design had included bedrooms and an office on the second floor but those had been removed for cost reasons and due to the required reduction in height. Nonetheless, there was an intention to use the roof space as habitable space in the future and the design was important as a cohesive link to the adjoining 1.5-storey annexe. Subsidence of the new building would be avoided by the use of piled foundations designed for the ground conditions.

On the invitation of the Chairman, Cllr C Ambrose Smith addressed the Committee as Ward Member for Littleport. She declared her support for the application and for multi-generational living in general. The current residents wanted to remain living on the land they had worked, and the younger generations would become the 5<sup>th</sup> generation of the family to live on the land if the application was approved. The applicant would take on more responsibility for the running of the farm, and proposed to return livestock to the land as it would have existed decades ago. She did not understand why Officers had included the wet room, games room, and utility in their assessment of the annexe accommodation since, in her view, they were clearly intended for wider family use. The applicant had designed a building to accommodate three generations as well as the facility to work from home and to support the farm operations. All services would be shared between the main dwelling and the annexe, as would the entrance doors, the parking, the driveway and the surrounding garden. The original property had been built in the 19th or early 20th century when lifestyles were very different and families lived in smaller spaces. When designing a new home, it made sense to cater for the present and the future rather than to adhere to previous standards. Other building along Hale Fen included far larger properties, such as that at No.36, which could be more susceptible to sub-division. The family wished to live sustainably and supportively in familiar surroundings and she urged the Committee to give careful consideration to the points she had raised.

There were no questions for the Ward Member.

#### Cllr C Ambrose Smith left the Chamber.

The Chairman invited the Planning Officer to make any further comments and she clarified that Officers were not objecting to the principle of an annexe, or to a replacement dwelling, the concerns were regarding the excessive scale of the building, despite the amendments that had been made. She referred back to the floorplans and indicated that the games room appeared to be part of the annexe and the main house had sufficient space to accommodate a games room elsewhere. In addition, the utility room was large and it was necessary to consider that it could be used as a kitchen for the annexe in place of the small kitchen area that was indicated on the floorplan.

In response to a question from Cllr Trapp, she stated that she believed the 13m width to refer to the exterior dimensions. Cllr Wilson questioned whether it would be possible to prevent the annexe from being separated to become an extra dwelling in the countryside, and asked about ClL payments. The Planning Team Leader stated that ClL was charged after construction and was based on the new floor space less that which had been lost. A condition or legal agreement would be possible, however, the proposal was considerably larger than what would considered acceptable for an annexe. He reiterated that a minimum dwelling size

would be 37sqm, whereas the annexe would be at least 60sqm (if accepting the agent's view rather than the Officers' regarding which rooms constituted the annexe) and therefore was considered to be a dwelling rather than an annexe.

Cllr Huffer stated that she understood that Members needed to consider the application as presented, rather than judging it on potential alterations, and she considered architectural design to be subjective and therefore "exceptional design" would be a personal choice. The Planning Officer explained that Officers were of the opinion that the size of the property would clearly be excessive. The annexe should be ancillary to the host. In terms of the design, it was considered to be lacking cohesion and fell short of exception, the scale also compounded the issues preventing it from complying with policy HOU8.

In response to questions from Cllr Downey, the Planning Officer confirmed that there was a single ground-floor doorway between the host dwelling and annexe which established a functional link but did not outweigh the scale. The Planning Team Leader explained that Officers considered the proposed annexe to be out of scale for an annexe since its floor space was considerably in excess of the 37sqm minimum size for a 1-bedroom 2-person dwelling. Annexes should remain reliant on the main house with the main space being provided there and the annexe being a much smaller floor area. Cllr Trapp commented that he had concerns regarding future-proofing since a first-floor bedroom with no lift access may not be suitable for elderly occupants, therefore the annexe had the appearance of a separate dwelling. The Planning Team Leader agreed with that view and added that in the Officers' opinion the games room could become a bedroom in future.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith challenged the Officers' use of the building's dimensions to demonstrate that its size was excessive and said that the garage should be excluded from both the measurements and the multiple when comparing the proposed size with the existing dwelling. He also asked why a maximum size was being applied when the Council did not specify a minimum size. The Planning Officer confirmed that the stated 2.6x size increase had included the garage, as this was included in the built form. She also explained that dwellings in the countryside needed to be sympathetic to the building which they replaced. In response to a question from Cllr Stubbs, the Planning Officer showed the block plan and highlighted the proposed footprint and the smaller existing footprint.

Cllr Jones asked whether the Officers' recommendation would have differed if the same building had been a single dwelling rather than a host dwelling with annexe, and questioned what would be the impact of the size since the proposal was for a replacement dwelling in an isolated location. The Planning Manager reminded Members that they needed to consider the application as presented, and that the scale of the building was an issue in the view of Officers. Full details regarding the assessment against policy were in the report, but in summary the scale and design should be similar to the original dwelling.

The Chairman then opened the debate. Cllr Brown considered the proposal to be replacing an existing dwelling. In his opinion the design was acceptable and he did not feel that it would be intrusive. He proposed that the application be approved on the grounds that it would not be contrary to policy HOU8. Councillor Huffer seconded the proposal and agreed it was a nicer design than the existing dwelling, she also suggested that the desire to exceed minimum standards should not be

criticised. Cllr D Ambrose Smith agreed and Cllr Jones added that he did not consider the proposed building to be out of scale since it was in an isolated location. Cllr Downey commented that the Officer's evaluation of the size as "excessive" was subjective and he could not see any harm that approval would cause. He disagreed that the main dwelling and the annexe could be easily subdivided and, although personal circumstances were not a planning consideration, he felt it appropriate to understand that a larger home might be desired in order to accommodate a larger multi-generational family. Cllr Wilson considered that no-one had objected to the proposal apart from the Officer and that he could therefore see no reason to refuse it.

Cllr Stubbs proposed accepting the Officer's recommendation for refusal on the basis that the application was for a replacement dwelling that would be substantially larger than the original building. In addition, the layout of the annexe did not support the idea that it was for an elderly couple. The Officers had provided advice to the applicants about complying with policies and that advice had not been adhered to. She did not consider the design to be of exceptional quality. Cllr Trapp seconded Cllr Stubbs' proposal to refuse the application. He supported the principle of multi-generational living but did not consider the proposed development to be suitable due to its lack of either a lift or a ground-floor bedroom in the annexe. In addition, the proposal was very large and approval would set a precedent. Cllr Hunt agreed that there were aspects to consider on both sides of the argument but on balance he felt that the national rules and local policies should be adhered to and he would therefore support the Officers' recommendation.

It was resolved with 6 votes in favour, 4 votes against, and 0 abstentions:

That planning application ref 21/00410/FUL be APPROVED on the grounds that it was considered that the proposal was in accordance with policy HOU8.

It was further resolved:

That the Planning Manager be given delegated authority to impose suitable conditions, including a condition tying the annex to the host property.

3:34 – 3:42pm meeting adjourned for a comfort break. Cllr C Ambrose Smith returned to the Chamber.

# 57. <u>21/00706/ESF – SOLAR FARM LAND TO THE EAST OF BREACH FARM, NESS ROAD, BURWELL</u>

Andrew Phillips, Planning Team Leader, presented a report (W121, previously circulated) recommending approval of a cross-boundary application seeking permission for a solar farm, with the vast majority of the site being within West Suffolk and two relatively small strips of solar panels together with site access and grid connection being within East Cambridgeshire.

The Case Officer drew Members' attention to the additional information in the update sheet regarding comments from the Cambs Wildlife Trust and the Cambridgeshire Historic Environment Team, and a correction to paragraph 7.19 of the report which should read "This scheme of 49.9MW can power approximately 16.000 households."

Members were shown maps and aerial photographs to demonstrate the site location to the east of Burwell and its relationship with the boundary between the two Districts. Photographs of the site showed the established hedgerows and trees, and an indicative landscape scheme and indicative cross sections detailed the additional planting that would take place. The landscaping was acceptable in the view of Officers.

The inverters, batteries, switch gear, control station and most of the solar panels would be in West Suffolk. Images and dimensions were provided for them all. The solar panels would be 3m high. All material considerations were detailed within the Officers' report.

The main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

- **Environmental statement** the 73 hectare site comprised agricultural land of grades 2, 3a and 3b as well as a small portion of non-agricultural land. The cumulative loss of agricultural land from the approved and planned solar farms (primarily Sunnica) used 515 hectares of the best and most versatile agricultural land representing 0.8% of East Cambs' and the former Forest Heath District's supply. It was considered that the proposal would lead to a low level of moderate detrimental impact to the land in the short-medium term and long-term benefits (after 40 years) due to the land resting. The site was within a dip approximately 5m lower than the surrounding land to the west, south and east. There would be significant and detrimental harm to the enjoyment of the byway of Haycroft Lane (to the south of the site) in the short term but little long-term harm once the cabling had been installed and the landscaping established. There would be no noticeable impact on Ely Cathedral and less than substantial harm to Burwell North Street Conservation Area in the short term while the cabling was laid under the road but this would be outweighed by the public benefit of renewable energy. There was a need for pre-commencement archaeological conditions to find, preserve and record any heritage.
- **Principle** the IPCC had set a target of 45% reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> levels by 2030, the Council had declared a Climate Emergency in October 2019, and the NPPF, UK National Legislation, policy ENV6 of the Local Plan 2015, and the Renewable Energy SPD were all in favour in principle of promoting renewable energy *via* solar farms. The benefits of renewable energy should therefore be granted very substantial positive weight and consequently the proposal was considered to be acceptable in principle. Demonstrable and significant harm outweighing the benefits would be required to warrant refusal.
- Landscape and visual impact due to the site's distance from Ness Road and Haycroft Lane, and its location within a dip in the land, there was considered to be minimal harm to the landscape from most public vantage points. The site entrance on Ness Road would be widened by 2.2m but the harm this would cause was considered to be minimal. From some points along Haycroft Lane the solar panels would be clearly visible until the landscape planting had established but it was expected that by year 5 there would be negligible harm to the character of the byway. Overall, in the short term there would be a negative impact to those travelling next to the site but the long-distance views of the landscape were unlikely to be affected from viewpoints within East Cambs. Once the landscape had established the visual harm would, at worst, be minor.

- **Highways** the Local Highways Authority had raised no objections subject to conditions regarding access and construction traffic management.
- **Ecology** the conditions proposed by West Suffolk in relation to ecology had been adopted in order to ensure that biodiversity would be protected across the site. No objections had been received from the Cambridgeshire Wildlife Trust or the West Suffolk Ecology and Landscape Officer.
- Flood risk and drainage the Environment Agency and Lead Local Flood Authority had not objected to the proposal and it was considered to meet both the sequential and exception tests. Conditions were required to ensure that surface water was controlled and that the proposal would not contaminate water. The development had been designed to ensure that the electrics were not in areas considered most likely to flood.
- Other matters the MoD, National Air Traffic Services Ltd and Cambridge Airport Ltd had not raised any concerns. Residential amenity could be protected by conditions to control the construction work including piling. Conditions would also be required in order to protect public safety in the event of a battery fire.

In summary, it was considered likely that there would be detrimental impact to the overall enjoyment of the countryside in the short-term due to the volume of solar farm construction in the area. The less than substantial harm to heritage was considered to be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. In the short-term the proposal would cause moderate detrimental harm to farm land supply, although there would be long-term benefits to the quality of the agricultural land due to its resting. Members were therefore recommended to grant delegated approval for the Manager to confirm suitable conditions with West Suffolk should they also grant approval for the application. It would be necessary for the conditions to match on both planning permissions.

On the invitation of the Chairman, the agent and applicant, Phil Roden and Kier Petherick, addressed the Committee. Mr Roden explained that they had been working closely with ECDC and West Suffolk Council for eight months to prepare the planning application and in the context of COP26 and Government announcements it was important to decarbonise the energy network. They were in attendance at the meeting in order to address any questions or concerns from Members. Mr Petherick explained that he already farmed other land that hosted solar panels within the region.

Cllr Huffer asked how it could be justified to use high grade agricultural land for solar panels and how it would be possible to guarantee that the land would be fit for farming in 40 years' time and the necessary farming skills would not have been lost by that point. Mr Petherick responded that he was an experienced fenland farmer around Ely and Stretham and grazed sheep around the solar panels on his farm. The land in question was grade 2 and 3 agricultural land with no irrigation and it was therefore mainly used for cereals and sugar beet, there was no grade 1 land in the proposal. Grazing sheep meant that ploughing was not required and this therefore had the additional benefit of enabling carbon sequestration. Farming skills and experience would not be lost because they would still be required for farming other land, there were also constant technological advances in land management so it evolved all the time. By using land for both solar panels and sheep it was effectively yielding two crops: energy and food.

In response to a question from Cllr Brown regarding the huge disruption to Burwell of running the cable from the panels to the sub-station, Mr Roden explained that the work would be temporary and conditions had been proposed to minimise the disruption. Cllr Trapp questioned why the electricity generated could not connect to the power lines running over the site, rather than needing the cable to the substation, and Mr Petherick agreed that it would have been a good solution but explained the technical issues that made this impossible. Cllr Downey asked whether Burwell Parish Council's suggestion could be implemented regarding the cables going to another sub-station, or connecting with Sunnica. Mr Petherick reminded Members that the Sunnica development had not been approved and there was a substantial amount of opposition to it.

Cllr Wilson asked about the efficiency of land use for solar panels when compared to using the same land for biofuel crops. He also asked about wildflowers on-site and the use of concrete under the panels in one of the pictures which would seem to suggest the land would not be suitable for grazing. Mr Roden explained that the concrete base was only used in areas of archaeological interest where a no-dig solution was required, in all other areas piling would be used to achieve a minimal footprint. Wildflowers would be grown around wide margins, together with hedgerows, and the grazing would occur over the rest of the site; there were recognised biodiversity gains for well-managed solar farms. Mr Petherick added details about the power output per acre for solar farms compared to that for biofuel crops and indicated that solar farms should be approximately 10x more efficient when considered in that way.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith asked about the lifetime of the solar panels and about their susceptibility to damage. Mr Petherick explained that he was seeing a 0.2% degradation rate on the panels he had installed in 2012, which was better than the 0.5% rate that had been anticipated, and indicated that they lasted very well. Mr Roden added that technology providers were constantly innovating and improving.

The Case Officer had nothing further to add so the Chairman invited questions from Members. Cllr Brown asked about the impact of the cumulative effect of multiple solar farms in the District. The Officer agreed that the cumulative impact needed careful consideration alongside the benefits of each scheme. There was a substantial need for renewable energy, however, the installation of a solar farm caused harm in the short-term via the disruption for cable installation etc and in the longer term via the loss of agricultural land and potential disruption to enjoyment of the countryside. As each solar farm application came forward the District needed to carefully consider the issues and at some point a decision would be made that no more could be supported. Cllr Huffer added that the existing and approved solar farms in the District already produced enough energy for three times the number of homes in the District. She was also concerned about the battery storage and the potentially devastating impact on nearby residents if a fire was to occur there. The Officer explained some of the best practice guidelines for managing battery fires and emphasised that planning conditions were applied to all approved applications in line with the best evidence regarding fire safety. In response to a further question from Cllr Trapp, he stated that a container system was used for the battery storage in order to protect against potential issues should elements from the batteries reached the water system.

The Chairman then opened the debate. Cllr Huffer spoke in favour of renewable energy, and commended the eloquent applicant, but questioned the amount of solar farms in the District and their impact on the landscape. Cllr D Ambrose Smith agreed with the necessity of solar farms but did not like their appearance.

Cllr Trapp commented that the location in a hollow was good because it would not be particularly visible. He also stated that there should be a Solar Energy Plan for the District. Cllr Wilson considered solar farms to be a positive contribution and stated that he would support the application. Cllr Downey welcomed the role that ECDC could play in supplying as much green electricity as possible and stated that there were many subjective issues at play, including the aesthetics of solar panels.

Cllr Hunt recognised the validity of concern that production in the District would exceed its usage, but all parts of the UK produced things for areas outside their own region. The Council had declared a Climate Emergency and therefore had a responsibility to do all it could in support of that. The policy on wind turbines meant that, as long as solar farms were suitably controlled and concerns for wildlife and public safety were suitably addressed, they should be supported. He proposed that the Officer's recommendation for approval should be accepted, and Cllr Trapp seconded the motion.

It was resolved with 10 votes in favour, 0 votes against, and 1 abstention:

That planning application ref 21/00706/ESF be APPROVED subject to the recommended conditions detailed in Appendix 1 of the Officer's report.

It was further resolved:

That the Planning Manager be given delegated authority, in consultation with the Chairman of Planning Committee, to make minor amendments to the conditions at Appendix 1, and/or impose additional conditions that may be required by West Suffolk District Council.

## 58. 21/01142/FUL - 55 CARTER STREET, FORDHAM, ELY, CB7 5NG

Rachael Forbes, Planning Officer, presented a report (W122, previously circulated) recommending refusal of an application seeking agreement for a part change of use from an existing retail unit to a takeaway (*sui generis*).

The Case Officer read aloud a further email received from an objector reinforcing previous comments they had made that the corner was very dangerous and approval of the takeaway would add to the problem. She then showed Members maps and aerial photographs of the site location within the development envelope of the village, opposite The Chequers restaurant and the Co-op and relatively near to Scotsdales. Existing and proposed site plans, floor plans and elevations illustrated the minimal external changes that would take place to sub-divide the building into approximately 2/3 takeaway and 1/3 retail. Photographs of the site from various angles demonstrated its current appearance, its setting within Carter Street, and its car park.

The main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

- Principle of development the site lay within the development envelope and the proposal could be considered to be a small-scale localised facility suitable for a village. A clear need had not been demonstrated but the takeaway was proposed to be situated within an existing commercial premises and there were other types of takeaway present in the area. The call-in had stated that there was much local support, however only one letter of support had been received in contrast to many objections from nearby residents. The proposal was well located with respect to its accessibility to its catchment population and it represented a shared use which could potentially be adapted for future community uses.
- Visual amenity the site was in the vicinity of two Listed Buildings and formed part of a Locally Important View as defined in Policy 6 of the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan. The main external change to the vacant single-storey food store would be the replacement of one window to provide a door for the shop (the proposed takeaway would use the existing door). All final design elements, materials, colour choice and signage could be secured by condition, with the signage likely to require advertisement consent via a separate planning application. The Conservation Officer was satisfied that there were no conservation implications, and given the minimal external alterations it was considered that the proposal would not result in harm to the setting of the Listed Buildings, would not detract from the Locally Important View, and would comply with the relevant Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan policies.
- Residential amenity objections had been raised in relation to noise and disturbance, in particular with respect to trading hours, deliveries, noise from cooking equipment, anti-social behaviour and litter. The proposed opening times (12:00-14:30 and 17:00-22:00 Mon-Sat) would be similar to other nearby businesses, including the Co-op opposite, and the Environmental Health Officer recommended a condition regarding the opening hours and restricting deliveries to the same times. Further conditions had also been proposed with respect to details of the extraction and filtration system, and the submission of a noise impact assessment. The site already had permission for use as a shop and the surrounding commercial premises had similar opening hours, therefore the proposed takeaway was not considered to attract further anti-social behaviour. Conditions had been proposed by the Waste Strategy Team to address waste storage and potential littering. The minimal external changes would not result in any additional overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing of neighbouring properties. Subject to suitable conditions, the proposal was considered not to result in significant adverse impacts to residential amenity and therefore complied with policies ENV2 and COM4 of the Local Plan 2015 and Policy 2 of the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan.
- Highway safety and parking multiple concerns had been raised by residents who considered that the road was already busy, the site was located close to a dangerous bend, there was competition of on-street parking and very limited on-site parking, and existing safety issues would be exacerbated. The existing car park had space for approximately 5 vehicles but no details had been provided on the submitted plans and it was unclear whether the car park was intended to serve both the takeaway and the shop, or just the takeaway. Based on the parking requirements of the Local Plan, 25.4 30.1 car parking spaces would be required depending upon the

nature of the shop and whether or not it was included. The shortfall in provision would therefore be at least 20.4 spaces and this would not comply with the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan which specified that development proposals would be required to meet the parking standards of the Local Plan as a minimum. It was recognised that permission was already in place for use as a shop, for which there would also be a shortfall for parking, however, the parking provision in the Local Plan was higher for a takeaway than for a shop which indicated that a takeaway was considered to be a more intensive use. There was no provision for delivery vehicles, and staff parking could reduce the availability of on-site parking for customers. In addition to insufficient parking provision, there was no space for turning or manoeuvring and this could result in vehicles reversing out of the site onto a busy road, directly opposite the Co-op entrance and close to a blind bend. The Local Highway Authority had commented that appropriate levels of off-street parking should be demonstrated together with turning space, a minimum access width of 5m, and 2m x 2m visibility splays. The proposed development was therefore considered to be contrary to policies COM7 and COM8 of the Local Plan 2015, and Policy 11 of the Fordham Neighbourhood

• Other matters – the nature of the site and the limited proposed external alterations would not lend themselves to a net gain in biodiversity and it was considered that it would be unreasonable to require a scheme of biodiversity enhancements. The site lay within flood zone 1, the area at lowest risk of flooding, and would not create any additional footprint or hardstanding, consequently the development would be unlikely to result in additional impacts to surface water drainage. No sustainability measures had been included within the application and whilst that weighed against it it would not form a reason for refusal.

In summary, the proposed part change of use was considered acceptable in terms of ecology and flood risk and was not considered to result in a significant adverse impact to the character and appearance of the area, or to residential amenity (subject to robust, appropriately worded, conditions). However, it was considered that there would be a significant detrimental impact to highway safety and would therefore be contrary to policies COM4, COM7 and COM8 of the Local Plan 2015, Policy 11 of the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan, and chapters 9 and 12 of the NPPF. The application was therefore recommended for refusal.

On the invitation of the Chairman, Jeremy Vincent addressed the Committee as an objector to the application. He explained that he was an immediate neighbour to the site and had huge concerns, especially with regard to the effect on traffic and parking. He had lived in Fordham for two years and was already frustrated with the traffic along Carter Street; his car had been damaged six times, there had been accidents and there had been one death. In addition to cars, a chip shop would be likely to attract work vehicles. The very limited on-site parking would probably be used by staff, the Co-op car park opposite was also often full, so vehicles would park on the street. Any vehicles using the car park would have the additional danger of reversing out onto the road. He was also concerned about waste management, the smell, and the potential for attracting anti-social behaviour. There was a chip van which visited the village and other catering vans which should be supported. New houses were being built elsewhere in the village with retail and parking, so a

chip shop would be better located there. Residents living close to the site were the experts regarding the traffic there and they should be listened to.

The Chairman then asked the Democratic Services Officer to read aloud a statement supplied by Vicki Jelleyman, another objector to the application:

"Ourselves and our neighbours at 53 and 49 strongly oppose this application. You have numerous objections documented from residents regarding this proposal along with Parish Council comments and County Highways. We ask that you please consider all factors. The main objections are well documented in our letters:

- safety on the road, we have daily near misses on this bend with the Coop exit, and the chip shop will add to the danger
- limited parking on Carter Street. There was a fatality from a pedestrian on this blind bend.
- environmental concerns noise and odour from extractor fans, noise and unsociable behaviour in the cafe seating and outside on this quiet residential street
- it is not in keeping with the character of the area, with several listed buildings nearby
- it does not meet the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan as documented in my objection."

Cllr Trapp asked Mr Vincent for more information about the parking for the Co-op and The Chequers; the Case Officer indicated the location on the previously-displayed map. Cllr Hunt commented that the application site could open as a shop with the existing parking provision and the objector replied that he believed customers would be more likely to remain in the immediate area after visiting a takeaway than a shop because they would eat in their car whilst the food was hot. In response to a question from Cllr Wilson, he explained that the site had previously been a Co-op prior to a new larger Co-op being built on a site across the road with a car park shared with The Chequers.

Cllr Huffer then addressed the Committee as Ward Member for Fordham and expressed her strong support for the application. She reminded Members that the application site had previously supported a Co-op that operated 7am-11pm seven days a week and had been so busy that it had relocated to a site across the road that was twice the size and shared a 23-space car park with the popular Indian restaurant, The Chequers. The Planning Inspector for the new Co-op site had not considered the bend to be dangerous and neither had County Highways, although in her personal experience exiting from the new car park was considerably more dangerous than it had been from the application site, due to the vastly superior visibility from the application site. The proposed opening hours of the takeaway (12:00-2:30pm and 5:00-10:00pm Monday - Saturday) did not, in her view, constitute an intensification when compared to the previous opening hours of the Co-op at the same site. The fears regarding anti-social behaviour and littering were understandable but there were nearby locations already favoured by groups of teenagers and she considered that the majority of customers would take their food home to eat. She did however suggest that, if approved, the applicants should source recyclable containers. In order to reduce the potential for odour she requested that the applicants should work with the Environmental Health team to ensure minimal disturbance to neighbouring properties by utilising a suitable extraction system. She challenged the assumption that all customers would visit the site by car, citing its location in the heart of the village as evidence for the likelihood of travel on foot or by bicycle. There were two sheltered housing areas in nearby proximity, the residents of which were unable to drive and therefore couldn't access the nearest fish and chip shops in Soham, Exning or Newmarket. Approximately 600 new homes were due to be built in Fordham over the next 5 years and it was important that facilities were provided within the village to encourage everyone to shop locally and reduce reliance on car travel. She concluded that, with due respect to the Planning Officer, she believed that the application should be approved.

In response to a question from Cllr Hunt, Cllr Huffer confirmed that there had been a successful bid to fund a pedestrian crossing near to the site that would enable safe crossing at that point. Cllr Stubbs asked about the Parish Council's viewpoint since the report indicated that on 25th August they had objected to the proposal on the grounds of traffic concerns but on the 20th October Cllr Huffer had called-in the item on the request of the Parish Council, but no changes had been made to the application between those dates. Cllr Huffer confirmed that she was a member of the Parish Council but explained that, as a substitute member of the ECDC Planning Committee, she chose to leave the Parish Council meetings during any Planning discussions in order that she would not be pre-determined if an application was later considered by the Committee. She therefore did not know the content of the discussions at the Parish Council but personally felt strongly about this application and had therefore chosen to speak in support of it. In response to a further question from Cllr Stubbs, she stated that she did not know which aspect of the Neighbourhood Plan the objector's statement had been referring to, but she imagined it would be relating to the parking.

#### Cllr Huffer left the Chamber.

Referring to the mention of the Neighbourhood Plan in the objector's statement that had been read aloud, the Case Officer informed Members that the site was part of a Locally Important View outlined in the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan, and regarding parking the Neighbourhood Plan required that, as a minimum, the standards outlined in the Local Plan should be met.

Cllr Stubbs questioned whether approval of the application would affect the Neighbourhood Plan. The Planning Manager replied that it would be contrary to policy within the Fordham Neighbourhood Plan and Members would consequently need to justify going against the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan.

Cllr Trapp asked whether the existing parking on-site had no turning space within it, meaning that vehicles would have to reverse out of the car park onto the road. The Case Officer confirmed that was the case, and added that the entrance to the new Co-op site was immediately opposite. She informed Cllr Wilson that she did not think there were double yellow lines in the immediate area.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith asked whether it would be possible to specify that the applicant would need to keep the area clean, but the Planning Manager explained that due to the nature of a public highway litter could originate from elsewhere and it was therefore not a reasonable condition to impose. The Case Officer confirmed to Cllr Jones that the current use class would permit a retail unit to be opened on-

site immediately. In answer to a question from Cllr Stubbs, she stated that she did not know why the applicant was not present at the meeting.

The Chairman then opened the debate. Cllr D Ambrose Smith spoke about his experiences of Littleport's takeaway outlets and available parking, suggested that consumption of the takeaway in customers' cars rarely happened, and stated that he could see no reason to refuse the application. Cllr C Ambrose Smith added that whilst she understood the importance of Neighbourhood and Local Plans, it was impossible to impose modern standards on historic layouts and therefore it was important to do the best that was possible within those constraints.

Cllr Jones expressed mixed opinions. The site already had permission to open as a retail unit in which case there would be vehicles accessing it. He was familiar with the location and agreed that car parking was a concern, but considered that the proposed car parking requirements would be an unreasonable burden for a takeaway. His experience of takeaways in Soham and Ely indicated that customers collected their order and left, rather than consuming it in their parked vehicles.

Cllr Trapp expressed concern about the traffic on the corner and indicated that, whilst still in two minds, he was leaning towards supporting the Officer's recommendation for refusal. Cllr Downey stated that the Officer's reasons for refusal seemed to be sound, with the proposal being contrary to policy, but there appeared to be many takeaway outlets throughout the District that would not concur with the stated car-parking policy.

Cllr Hunt agreed that the decision was not clear-cut and as such it was appropriate that the application had been referred to the Committee for consideration. However, he considered that the expert opinion of the professional Officers should carry weight and he therefore proposed that the application should be refused. Cllr Stubbs expressed concern regarding highway safety, particularly reversing cars, but also wished to support local businesses. She recalled Cllr Huffer speaking passionately about highway safety on a previous occasion. On balance she seconded Cllr Hunt's proposal to refuse permission for a part change of use.

Cllr Wilson commented that the site photographs indicated that the site was unattractive and becoming derelict, if permission were to be refused then it would be likely to remain that way since takeaways appeared to be more attractive than retail outlets.

Upon being put to the vote, the proposal that planning application ref 21/01142/FUL be REFUSED was defeated with 3 votes in favour, 7 votes against, and 0 abstentions.

Cllr D Ambrose Smith then proposed that the application be approved since in his opinion the parking issue was not significant. Cllr Austen seconded the motion. The Planning Manager reminded Members that, when going against an Officer's recommendation it was important to provide Planning reasons for that decision. Referring back to earlier discussion points, the proposer and seconder agreed on their reasoning (as detailed in the resolution below) and the proposal was subsequently put to the vote.

It was resolved with 7 votes in favour, 3 votes against, and 0 abstentions:

That planning application ref 21/01142/FUL be APPROVED on the grounds that there would be no significant impact on parking because there had previously been a business operating on-site without significant incident and the car parking levels had supported that business, the proposal would not add further issues with regard to highway safety, and it would enhance the local community.

It was further resolved:

That the Planning Manager be given delegated authority to impose suitable conditions.

5:15 – 5:20pm meeting adjourned for a comfort break. Cllr Huffer returned to the Chamber.

## 59. 21/01146/FUL - 29 ISAACSON ROAD, BURWELL, CB25 0AF

Molly Hood, Planning Officer, presented a report (W123, previously circulated) recommending refusal of an application seeking permission for the demolition of a single-storey side projection adjoining the neighbouring property's garage and comprising a single garage, utility and study, and permission for the subsequent construction of a two-storey side extension forming an integral garage, utility, playroom and master bedroom suite.

A map and aerial photographs were shown to indicate the site's location in a residential area within the development envelope of Burwell, and with the Conservation Area adjoining the western boundary of the curtilage. Proposed floor plans, and existing and proposed elevations, were also provided to illustrate the design of the proposed two-storey extension, which included a raised ridge height for the existing front projection together with three roof lights to the front roof slope and a large dormer to the rear. Photographs of the rear elevation and its relationship with the neighbouring property at No. 31 were used to demonstrate the change in land levels, with the proposed extension being higher than the neighbouring plot. A photograph of the western elevation, taken from the curtilage of No. 27, illustrated the position of proposed fenestration with respect to the neighbouring plot. Photographs of the immediate streetscene Nos. 25-31 were also shown.

The main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

- Residential amenity by virtue of proposed new windows in the side elevations, and the difference in ground levels resulting in habitable rooms overlooking neighbours' rear private amenity spaces, it was considered that there would be overlooking, loss of privacy, and significant harm to the amenity of Nos. 27 and 31.
- Visual impact the extension would include a front projection with an 8m ridge height together with a 1.2m increase in the ridge height of the existing front projection to provide walk-in wardrobes. These ridge heights would add a significant proportion of massing to the front of the dwelling and were considered to result in a level of built form which would be visually dominant and overpowering in the streetscene. The increased ridge heights would also be out of character with the directly adjacent properties. Although there

were a variety of properties within the wider streetscene of Isaacson Road, the application site formed a pair with No. 31 and there was a further similar pair formed by Nos. 25 and 27. The ridge heights of the front projections were a feature that enabled the retention of symmetry and it was considered that the volume of additional floor space within the roof would result in a top-heavy unbalanced appearance. As demonstrated in a previously-approved application (2016) it would be possible to achieve a well-sized loft conversion without the need for increasing the ridge height. The proposed additions would overpower the existing dwelling and remove its character; the original property would not be clearly legible due to the scale of the additions. The proposal was considered to be out of keeping with existing characteristics, resulting in a significant mass of built form which would not result in a positive or complementary relationship with adjacent properties. The proposed development was therefore considered to be contrary to policies ENV1, ENV2 and the Design Guide.

 Highway safety
 – the existing driveway to the front of the property would be maintained, thereby providing off-street parking for at least two vehicles. The proposed development was therefore considered to comply with policy COM8 of the Local Plan 2015.

In summary, the proposal was considered to be detrimental to the residential amenity of the adjacent properties and harmful to the appearance of the dwelling and the character of the streetscene. It was therefore recommended for refusal.

On the invitation of the Chairman, Kevin Watts (agent for the applicant) addressed the Committee. He drew Members' attention to the document that had previously been circulated to the Committee on his behalf, and reiterated several points from within it. In particular, the applicants had been willing to make amendments to their proposal in response to comments from Planning Officers and they had understood that reducing the pitches of the gables would enable approval. The overall size of the additions had not been mentioned as a cause for concern at that stage. There was no continuous design or house style along Isaacson Road, in particular there were many designs of front elevations and roofs. The proposed gables were considered to be in keeping with those on the property opposite. Regarding the side windows, the two ground floor windows were small and mainly faced the neighbour's wall. The first-floor windows also mainly faced the wall and were intended for providing light rather than a view. The Parish Council had not objected, there were ~350 new homes being built approximately 100m away, and the scale of the proposed dwelling was in keeping with the plot size as well as improving the current dwelling.

There were no questions for the agent, and the Case Officer had no further comments to make. Cllr Downey asked the Officer what constituted high quality design, and why this application did not meet that threshold. The Case Officer reiterated that the original dwelling would not be clearly legible following the additions, and that she had requested reduced ridge heights. Cllr Huffer questioned why the original dwelling needed to be apparent since it was of no historical significance, and asked what ridge height reduction had been required. The Case Officer explained that the Design Guide referenced maintaining a clearly legible original building, and although a specific reduction had not been specified it had been clear that the existing ridge on the front projection had been preferred.

In response to a question from Cllr Trapp she clarified that two off-street parking spaces would be policy-compliant.

The Chairman then opened the debate. Cllr C Ambrose Smith commented that, having visited Isaacson Road, she considered there to be no coherent style for the street since there were 1970s properties on one side and more mature properties on the other and there had been multiple changes of doors, windows and garages. On that basis she did not consider that the proposal would have a significant impact. Cllr Huffer agreed and questioned what harm it would do.

Cllr Trapp disagreed and stated that the harm would be caused by the overlooking and impact on the neighbours. The property would project further back, would be taller and would have more windows all of which would impinge on the neighbour. The visual whole of that side of the road would also be affected. He therefore proposed that the application should be refused.

Cllr Brown stated that consideration of the application would have benefitted from a formal site visit. There were a variety of houses along the road and, in his opinion, the overlooking would not be as significant as Cllr Trapp had suggested. He proposed that the application should be approved, against the Officer's recommendation, on the grounds that the benefits to the property would outweigh any perceived harm. Cllr Downey agreed with Cllr Brown's assessment and seconded his motion for approval.

Cllr Jones commented that the design detracted from the symmetry of the neighbouring properties, and he was concerned about the overlooking. Although he considered the various points to be finely balanced, he concluded that the application should be refused and he seconded Cllr Trapp's proposal.

The Chairman then put to the vote Cllr Trapp's motion to refuse the application in line with the Officer's recommendation.

It was resolved with 6 votes in favour, 5 votes against, and 0 abstentions:

That planning application ref 21/01146/FUL be REFUSED for the reasons detailed in paragraph 1.1 of the Officer's report

The Chairman informed the Committee that Agenda Items 10 and 11 would be taken out of order, with Agenda Item 11 being heard before Item 10, due to the length of the meeting and there being members of the public in attendance for item 11 but not for item 10.

## 60. <u>21/01288/FUL - 7 CENTRE ROAD, SOHAM, CB7 5AU</u>

Molly Hood, Planning Officer, presented a report (W125, previously circulated) recommending refusal of an application seeking permission for the demolition of an existing outbuilding and rear conservatory, followed by construction of a two-storey extension projecting from the rear and extending to the side, with an adjoining single-storey rear extension.

Comments had been received from Soham Town Council that morning: they had no concerns with the proposal and considered that many properties had been

extended in that area, with permission from ECDC, and that consistency was needed.

Members were shown a map and aerial photographs to demonstrate the site's location to the south of Soham, within a residential area in the town's development envelope. Floorplans and elevations were provided and illustrated both the rear extension extending out to the side of the property, and the proposed new porch for the front elevation. The proposed single-storey rear extension, adjoining the proposed two-storey extension, would have a flat roof with ceiling lantern. Photographs of the existing property were provided from the neighbouring rear garden to illustrate the impact the proposal would have on their garden space. Members were also shown photographs of the immediate streetscene, including other neighbouring pairs of semi-detached houses and the detached property between Nos. 11 and 13 that had been allowed at appeal, and extended semi-detached properties along nearby Fordham Road.

The main considerations for the application were deemed to be:

- Residential amenity due to its flat roof, there were no concerns regarding the proximity of the single storey extension to the adjoining neighbour (5 Centre Road). However, the two-storey extension would be 2.4m from the boundary and would project 6m from the rear elevation and this was considered to give disruption to the direct sunlight for the immediate amenity space and rear elevation of No.5. The proposal would introduce a substantial level of built form resulting in a massing that was considered to be significantly detrimental to residential amenity. There were also concerns regarding the potential for overbearing, overshadowing and oppressive impacts to the windows of No.5 that were in close proximity to No.7. The proposed development was considered to fail to comply with policy ENV2 of the Local Plan 2015.
- **Visual impact** the proposal would be visually dominant and overpowering, as well as disrupting the symmetry of the semi-detached pair, which was one of five such pairs, and would therefore be harmful to the streetscene. The single-storey extension at No.3 was set back and to the side of the property, therefore not destroying the symmetry of the semi-detached pair. The detached dwelling sited between Nos. 11 and 13 had been allowed at appeal and, although present in the streetscene, its character was very different to that of a two-storey extension to a semi-detached dwelling. Several semi-detached properties along nearby Fordham Road had twostorey additions but were not considered to be in the immediate streetscene of the application and Fordham Road had varying degrees of additions and a variety of properties. Conversely, Centre Road remained fairly undeveloped with the symmetry of the semi-detached pairs being largely retained. The proposal would also result in an extension with a footprint larger than that of the original dwelling, suggesting a proposal driven by the desire for additional floorspace and without regard for the existing development on the site or its surroundings. The proposed development was considered to be out of character with the streetscene and harmful to the original appearance of the existing dwelling. The scale and massing of the extension were also considered to be overpowering and harmful. The proposed development was therefore considered to be contrary to the Design Guide and to policies ENV1 and ENV2 of the Local Plan 2015.

 Highway safety – the existing driveway to the side of the property would be retained for off-street parking and the proposal was therefore considered to comply with policy COM8 of the Local Plan 2015.

In summary, the proposal was considered to be detrimental to the residential amenity of the adjoining property and harmful to the appearance of the dwelling, its semi-detached pair, and the character of the streetscene. It was therefore recommended for refusal.

On the invitation of the Chairman, the applicant Amy Ellis addressed the Committee. She reminded Members that Cllr Bovingdon had asked the Committee to consider the application on the grounds that he felt its refusal to be inconsistent with other Downfields developments. The Design Guide advised that symmetry should be retained where possible, but other similar developments had been carried out within Downfields and most residents of Centre Road would not have the means to develop their properties. She challenged the suggestion that a twostorey addition would be out of character for the street by questioning what would be considered to be the street's character since it was not uniform. There were properties of different colours, differing colours and styles of windows and doors, four completely different style properties almost opposite the proposed site, and further south along the road was a mix of different style dwellings. She highlighted the detached two-storev house between Nos 11 and 13 that did not blend in with the pattern of development or the character due to its siting and gable ends, it also disrupted the symmetry of the streetscene. The applicants' plot was large and widened significantly to the rear of the existing building, the proposed design and position of the extension were such that a significant gap would be maintained between Nos 7 and 9 and the existing building would remain dominant. No complaints had been received from the immediate neighbours and the 45° rule had been followed with respect to the attached dwelling. No.3 had a large single-storey pitched roof extension which had a greater effect on the light for its adjoining neighbour than this proposal would have on No. 5. They had also been careful with the design to be in keeping with the existing corners and rooflines and to preserve the off-road parking. The proposal would also remove access to the land at the rear of the property which would consequently prevent any future "back yard" proposals. In summary, the applicants considered that their proposal would improve rather than harm the aesthetic appeal of Centre Road, would be consistent with the ad-hoc character of the streetscene and other nearby permitted works, and would be appropriate for the host dwelling and plot.

Cllr Jones commented that he agreed with the applicant regarding the acceptability of the shape and design of the proposal, but was concerned about overshadowing to the adjoining property and he asked for evidence that it would not be significant. Ms Ellis explained that her information had been provided by her agent but her understanding was that, due to the different angles of the two plots and the positioning of the sun, the pitched roof of No.3's single-storey extension had a greater effect on the light amenity of No.1 than their two-storey extension would have on No.5.

6:01pm Cllr Trapp offered his apologies for the remainder of the meeting and left the Chamber.

The Chairman invited questions for the Case Officer, having established that she had no further comments to make. In response to questions from Cllrs Wilson and Jones, the Officer explained that the application site lay to the south of the adjoining property and would therefore obscure the direct natural light to No.5 as the sun moved round; no shadow survey had been undertaken but the two-storey extension extended 6m from the rear elevation and would therefore have an impact. She confirmed to Cllr Huffer that no objection had been received from No.5.

The Chairman then opened the debate. Cllr C Ambrose Smith offered the opinion that there were a range of building styles along Centre Road as well as considerable ongoing building work. On this basis she questioned whether the applicants' proposal to smarten a tired house would make a significant difference overall. Cllr Huffer also questioned the harm that would be done and highlighted the lack of objections from either neighbours or the Town Council, together with the requests from both Ward Councillor Bovingdon and the Town Council that there should be consistency regarding planning decisions in the immediate area. There were a mix of properties, including infills and new houses, and therefore she did not consider the proposal to result in a loss of visual amenity. Cllrs Downey, Jones, Austen and D Ambrose Smith all agreed with the previous speakers. Cllr Hunt expressed his support for the Officer's recommendation for refusal.

It was resolved with 8 votes in favour, 1 vote against, and 1 abstention:

That planning application ref 21/01288/FUL be APPROVED on the grounds that the proposal would not cause significant harm, there were a mixture of property styles in the vicinity so it would be in keeping with the area, and there would be no loss of visual amenity.

It was further resolved:

That the Planning Manager be given delegated authority to impose suitable conditions.

## 61. <u>21/01280/ADI – MULTIPLE SITES ACROSS ELY, CAMBS</u>

Cllr Austen declared an interest in this item as a City of Ely Councillor since she was aware that City of Ely Council would be involved with the implementation of the signage if the application was approved, she remained open-minded. Upon being asked by the Legal Services Manager, Cllr Downey declared the same interest and also stated that he had an open mind.

Holly Chapman, Planning Officer, presented a report (W124, previously circulated) recommending approval of an application seeking permission for the installation of twelve digital advertisements with interactive touchscreens, in multiple locations throughout Ely. The application had been brought to the Committee for decision, in line with the Council's Constitution, because it was an application from ECDC.

Twelve sites were included in the application for the installation of digital advertisements with interactive touchscreens. There had originally been four further locations but these had been removed due to the heritage sensitivity of the proposed sites. Members were shown diagrams of the three sign styles: double-

sided totem (2.35m tall), single-sided totem (2.35m tall), and wall-mounted screen. The signs were intended for wayfinding and tourism, and illustrative software/screen information was shown as an example of what might be included on the screens. Due to their wayfinding purpose they would be illuminated 24h per day. With the exception of the sign proposed for The Hive Leisure Centre, all proposed signage lay within the Conservation Area; the signs near the river would also be within flood zones 2 and 3. Although the proposed locations at Waterside, Pegasus Walk, Country Park, Ship Lane Car Park, and Forehill lay within the water treatment safeguarding area, the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority were not required to be consulted for application concerning advertisements.

Members were then shown plans, aerial images and site photographs for each proposed location. Where existing tourism signage was present at any of the locations there was a requirement within the proposed conditions that it be removed after installation of the digital signage.

Since the application concerned advertising, there were only limited considerations:

- Principle of development advertisements are controlled with reference
  to their effects on amenity (both visual and aural) and public safety (including
  crime prevention) only. The proposed structures and subterranean works
  were considered to comply with the definition of an advertisement in S366(1)
  of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and could
  therefore be considered under an application for advertisement consent.
- Visual and aural amenity each location had been considered individually on its heritage and townscape sensitivity. Any potential harm to the setting or significance of the Conservation Area or nearby heritage assets was balanced against potential social and economic public benefit to the city by providing a cohesive tourist and wayfinding information network. Residential amenity impacts were also considered for each location. All twelve of the remaining proposed locations were considered to comply with the relevant policies of the Local Plan 2015, the Design Guide, and the NPPF, subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1 of the report.
- Public safety none of the proposals would obstruct CCTV cameras or cause glare upon them. The Access Group had not raised any objections. The Local Highways Authority had raised no objections, subject to a condition restricting the luminance of the adverts to no more than 600cd/m² during night-time hours. An appropriate condition had therefore been proposed which accounted for GMT/BST variations and had erred on the side of caution in its definition of night-time (16:00-08:00 1st October 31st March, 18:30-07:00 1st April 30th September) in order to protect residential and visual amenity.
- Other matters the advertisements would be time-limited to 10 years. This was in excess of the usual 5-year standard, but significantly shorter than the 30 years requested, and was considered to be appropriate given the number of locations. Construction impacts, power sources, cost, maintenance, hygiene and obsolescence were not material planning considerations.

In summary, some of the proposed twelve illuminated advertisements were considered to result in less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the area, the setting and significance of the Conservation Area and nearby heritage assets. All were considered to provide a social and economic public

benefit by virtue of providing a network for wayfinding and tourist information. The harm had been balanced against the public benefits in accordance with Paragraph 202 of the NPPF, and the proposals were considered to comply with policies ENV1, ENV2, ENV3, ENV11 and ENV12 of the Local Plan 2015, the Design Guide, the Ely Conservation Area Appraisal and the NPPF subject to appropriate conditions. The application was therefore recommended for approval.

At the invitation of the Chairman, the Democratic Services Officer read aloud a statement supplied by Cllr Every, Ward Member for Ely East.

"Tourism and local visitors to Ely are vital to maintaining and increasing economic growth within our City. We have been more fortunate than some other cities and towns as we have continued to attract visitors post pandemic. Signage, or the lack of it, has been a discussion which has been going on for many years. Signage particularly from the station into the town and along Waterside has been poor. In addition, the City has been unable to use local media communications, eg apps, without the necessary wi-fi which we now have to maximise publication of our heritage sites, events and local shopping areas. The successful bid to the Ely Market Town fund at the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority has enabled the City to work on providing appropriate and informative signage to be achieved. Much collaborative work with stakeholders has been done to identify the best sites in keeping with our conservation area. I would like to thank the Officers in Economic Development and Planning (particularly the Conservation Officer) for helping bring about a plan which will enhance information for visitors and encourage them to stay longer and visit all our heritage sites and open spaces, and shop in our markets, hostelries and local independent shops.

I am supporting this application."

In response to several questions from Cllr D Ambrose Smith, the Case Officer explained that the content of the advertisements would be the responsibility of the economic team and was not a consideration for the determination of the application. Regarding the maintenance of the advertisements, she highlighted the conditions relating to their upkeep. Cllr Austen added that she understood City of Ely Council to be willing to undertake the maintenance and Oliver Cromwell's House the updating.

Cllr Austen commented that disabled individuals would not be able to see the content of the boards and the Officer reminded Members that the screen content was not a matter for consideration by this Committee. The Planning Manager informed Members that the Access Group had met with the relevant Officers regarding the content, and the Senior Support Officer added that there were several options being tested by the Access Group as a result of those discussions.

Cllrs D Ambrose Smith and Hunt both highlighted the omission of an advertisement at the train station. The Planning Manager explained that Planning Officers had purely advised on the acceptability of the proposal and had not been involved in assembling it. The original application had included a further four digital advertisements that had been removed due to their very sensitive locations, and a subsequent application had been submitted with additional locations, although the station was not one of them. The Conservation Officer added that discussions had been held with Greater Anglia, the current tenants of Ely station, and there was the

potential that work to install an advertisement at the station could be synchronised with work that they had planned; Network Rail were receptive to the idea.

During the debate Cllrs Wilson, Hunt, Downey, C Ambrose Smith and Stubbs all spoke in favour of the application, considering it to be a modern solution with benefits clearly outweighing any harm. Cllr D Ambrose Smith disagreed, and expressed concern regarding their visual impact and the potential for attracting graffiti.

It was resolved with 9 votes in favour, 1 vote against, and 0 abstentions:

That planning application ref 21/01280/ADI be APPROVED subject to the recommended conditions detailed in Appendix 1 of the Officer's report.

## 62. PLANNING PERFORMANCE REPORT - OCTOBER 2021

Rebecca Saunt, Planning Manager, presented a report (W126, previously circulated) summarising the performance of the Planning Department in October 2021.

It was resolved:

That the Planning Performance Report for October 2021 be noted.

#### 63. SITE VISITS

The Chairman reminded Members of the importance of visiting application sites in advance of the meeting. He emphasised that applicants and objectors were entitled to believe that all Committee Members would be well-informed prior to reaching their decision.

He asked Members for their views about reinstating the formal site visits, with travel by minibus between sites, that had been the norm prior to the COVID-related restrictions introduced in early 2020. For cost reasons, a commitment would be required from a minimum of five Members wishing to travel by bus, and it would not be practical for multiple cars to follow the bus between locations.

All Members were in agreement that formal site visits, including travel by minibus, should restart as soon as was practical. The Chairman reminded Members that formal site visits would usually take place on the morning of the Committee meeting, and the meeting would commence at 2pm rather than 1pm in order to accommodate this. Details would be supplied with the next Agenda to indicate whether or not formal site visits had been arranged for that meeting.

The meeting concluded at 6:50pm.